
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

SOUTH BEND DIVISION 

HEARTLAND RECREATIONAL 
VEHICLES, LLC, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GULF STREAM COACH, INC., 

Defendant. 

Case No. ____________________ 

COMPLAINT 
(Jury Trial Demanded) 

Plaintiff, Heartland Recreational Vehicles, LLC (“Plaintiff”), for its Complaint against 

Gulf Stream Coach, Inc. (“Defendant”), states and alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271, et seq., by Plaintiff against

Defendant for infringement of the United States Patent Nos. 7,278,650 (“patent ‘650”);

7,878,545 (“patent ‘545”); and 8,162,352 (“patent ‘352”). True and correct copies of

patents ‘650, ‘545, and ‘352 are attached hereto as Exhibits 1, 2, and 3.

PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff is an Indiana limited liability company, with a principal place of business at 1001

All Pro Drive, Elkhart, Indiana 46514, and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Thor Industries,

Inc.  Plaintiff owns all rights, title and interest to patents ‘650, ‘545, and ‘352.

1 

USDC IN/ND case 3:15-cv-00131-JD-CAN   document 1   filed 03/25/15   page 1 of 114

jreiter
Typewritten Text

jreiter
Typewritten Text
3:15-cv-131



3. Upon information and belief, Defendant is an Indiana corporation with a principal place of 

business at 503 South Oakland Ave., Nappanee, Indiana 46650. 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s patent infringement claim under 

28 U.S.C. § 1338(a), in that the claim arises under the Acts of Congress relating to patents, 

including but not limited to 35 U.S.C. § 271, et seq. 

5. Defendant resides in this judicial district and is subject to personal jurisdiction in this 

judicial district.  Defendant has a regular and established place of business in this judicial 

district.  

6. Defendant transacts business in this judicial district and has committed acts of patent 

infringement, giving rise to the present claim by Plaintiff, as described further herein, 

within this judicial district and/or outside Indiana that have caused injury in this judicial 

district. 

7. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and 

1400(b). 

 

BACKGROUND 

8. On October 9, 2007, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) duly and 

legally issued patent ‘650 entitled “Travel Trailer Having Improved Turning Radius.” 

9. On February 1, 2011, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) duly and 

legally issued patent ‘545 entitled “Travel Trailer Having Improved Turning Radius.” 
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10. On April 24, 2012, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) duly and 

legally issued patent ‘352 entitled “Travel Trailer Having Improved Turning Radius.” 

11. Plaintiff has owned patents ‘650, ‘545, and ‘352 (collectively, “Plaintiff’s Patents”) since 

the date each was issued.   

12. In general, Plaintiff’s Patents involve designs and technology relating to turning radius 

issues typically found in fifth wheel travel trailers, particularly when being towed by short-

bed pick-up trucks, and Plaintiff’s Patents help avoid corner collisions between travel 

trailers and short-bed pick-up trucks, by changing the shape of the fifth wheel cap and/or 

chassis, as compared with prior caps and chassis. 

13. Plaintiff is a manufacturer of recreational vehicles (“RVs”), including a type of travel 

trailer referred to as fifth wheel travel trailers.  Many of Plaintiff’s fifth wheel travel trailers 

incorporate and use one or more of the inventions of Plaintiff’s Patents.  Those fifth wheel 

travel trailers are referred to herein as the “Patented Products.”  For several years, Plaintiff 

has advertised the advantages of the patent features on its Patented Products, as shown in 

Exhibit 4 hereto. 

14. Plaintiff sells its RVs, including the Patented Products, primarily through independently 

owned dealers, distributors, and other RV resellers.  Plaintiff has entered into contracts 

with these resellers whereby Plaintiff provides the Patented Products along with collateral 

products to the resellers.  The resellers typically sell the Patented Products and the collateral 

products to “end users” or consumers of those products.  Those contracts with resellers, 

typically referred to in the trade as “dealership contracts” (regardless of whether or not the 

reseller meets the usual legal definition of a “dealership”), usually have a duration in excess 

of one year.  The collateral products sold along with the Patented Products include other 
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types of RVs, as well as certain products, including RV accessories, typically used with 

RVs. 

15. A substantial number of RV dealers and resellers prefer to offer “complete product lines” 

or a full range of RV products to their customers, and will not enter into dealership 

contracts with RV manufacturers who cannot provide them with a full range of RV 

products. 

16. Towable RV products, such as the Patented Products, are typically used by being 

temporarily attached to a towing vehicle.  There are two primary types of towing vehicles 

for RVs, short bed pick-up trucks and long bed pick-up trucks.  If a type of RV cannot be 

safely, easily, or reliably used with a short bed pick-up truck, the market demand for that 

type of RV is substantially less than if that type of RV could be used with both types of 

pick-up trucks. 

17. A substantial number of RV dealers and resellers prefer to offer to their customers RV 

products which incorporate innovative designs and new functional advantages, and will 

not enter into dealership contracts with RV manufacturers who cannot provide them with 

RV products having innovative designs and new functional advantages. 

 

DEFENDANT’S INFRINGING ACTIVITIES 

18. Defendant is a manufacturer of recreational vehicles (“RVs”), including a type of travel 

trailer referred to as fifth wheel travel trailers.  Defendant manufactured and sold certain 

of its fifth wheel travel trailers under the model names Canyon Trail, Sedona, and 

Ridgeline.  These models are referred to herein collectively as “Defendant’s Fifth Wheel 
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Product Lines.”  Copies of representative advertisements by Defendant for these products 

are attached hereto as Exhibits 5, 6, and 7. 

19. Defendant has marketed Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines in direct competition with 

the Patented Products.  Defendant competes with Plaintiff in obtaining dealer contracts 

with RV resellers.  Defendant has used Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines to assist in 

competing with Plaintiff in obtaining dealer contracts with RV resellers.  As a result of 

obtaining dealer contracts with RV resellers, Defendant has been able to sell Defendant’s 

Fifth Wheel Product Lines as well as collateral products, such as other types of RVs, to the 

RV resellers. 

20. Defendant has advertised that its Ridgeline fifth wheel travel trailers have a “front cap 

designed for maximum turning radius.”  Defendant has represented to RV resellers and to 

potential customers that it is was the source of “design innovation” for the “cut outs” in the 

Ridgeline front cap which permit “maximum turning radius.”  In doing this, Defendant 

intended to lead RV resellers and potential consumers to believe that Defendant originated 

the front cap cut out designs which allow increased turning radius of fifth wheel travel 

trailers. 

21. Defendant has advertised the Canyon Trail and Sedona fifth wheel travel trailers as having 

an “E-Z Turn Fiberglass Front Cap” for the same purpose as the front cap cut outs referred 

to in connection with advertisements for the Ridgeline fifth wheel travel trailers.  On the 

actual Canyon Trail and Sedona fifth wheel trailers, Defendant has marked the cut out 

portions of its front caps which increase the turning radius with bright yellow and black 

triangle decals having the designation “E-Z Turn.”  

5 
 

USDC IN/ND case 3:15-cv-00131-JD-CAN   document 1   filed 03/25/15   page 5 of 114



22. Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines have been offered for sale and sold by RV resellers 

to end users and consumers of those products.  Those consumers have used Defendant’s 

Fifth Wheel Product Lines. 

23. Defendant has made, used, sold and/or offered for sale in the United States products that 

infringe at least Claim 1 of patent ‘650, including but not limited to the Canyon Trail, 

Sedona and Ridgeline fifth wheel product lines. 

24. Defendant has made, used, sold and/or offered for sale in the United States products that 

infringe at least Claim 1 of patent ‘545, including but not limited to Defendant’s Fifth 

Wheel Product Lines. 

25. Defendant has made, used, sold and/or offered for sale in the United States products that 

infringe at least Claims 15 and 34 of patent ‘352, including but not limited to Defendant’s 

Fifth Wheel Product Lines. 

26. More specifically, the following illustration is a portion of an advertisement made by 

Defendant to market its Ridgeline fifth wheel travel trailers: 
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27. Claim 1 of patent ‘545 defines the following invention: 

 A fifth wheel travel trailer for use with a pickup truck as a towing vehicle, the 

pickup truck having a bed with a mating hitch and a cab, the travel trailer including: 

  a chassis having a front end; 

  a hitch attached to the chassis adjacent the front end and configured to 

 engage the mating hitch at a pivot location; and 

  a compartment having an upper deck and a pair of outer wall recessed 

 portions located adjacent a front of the upper deck entirely rearward of the pivot 

 location to provide clearance for a portion of the cab so as to permit the pickup 

 truck to make a tighter turn without the cab striking the travel trailer. 

28. The Ridgeline product shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26 is a fifth wheel travel 

trailer for use with a pickup truck as a towing vehicle.  That pickup truck has a bed with a 

mating hitch and a cab. 

29. The Ridgeline product shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26 is a travel trailer including 

a chassis having a front end.  The location of the front end is adjacent where the individual 

shown in the illustration is standing. 

30. The Ridgeline product shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26 has a hitch attached to the 

chassis adjacent the front end.  The location of that hitch is immediately behind the 

shoulders of the individual shown in the illustration.  That hitch is configured to engage 

the mating hitch of the pickup truck at a pivot location. 

31. The Ridgeline product shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26 has a compartment having 

an upper deck.  The location of the compartment is the interior of the travel trailer, as 

indicated by the door and windows shown in the illustration.  The location of the upper 
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deck is immediately behind the front end and interiorly of the first window shown behind 

the individual in the illustration. 

32. The Ridgeline product shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26 has a pair of outer wall

recessed portions located adjacent a front of the upper deck entirely rearward of the pivot

location to provide clearance for a portion of the cab so as to permit the pickup truck to

make a tighter turn without the cab striking the travel trailer.  The location of one of these

recessed portions is indicated by the outstretched hand of the individual shown in the

illustration.

33. Each limitation of Claim 1 of patent ‘545, is “literally present” in the Ridgeline product

shown in the illustration of Paragraph 26, within the meaning of N.D. Ind. L.P.R. 3-

1(ab)(3).

34. Plaintiff provided Defendant with specific illustrations and information detailing the basis

for asserting infringement of Claim 1 of patent ‘650, Claim 1 of patent ‘545, and Claims

15 and 34 of patent ‘’352 in correspondence dated June 23, 2014.  A true and correct copy

of that correspondence is attached hereto as Exhibit 8.  The bases of the allegations of

infringement as to those claims, as set forth in that letter, are expressly incorporated herein

by reference.

COUNT I: PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

35. Plaintiff incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-34 as if fully set forth herein.

36. Since the date of their issue, Plaintiff has been and still is the owner of Plaintiff’s Patents.

37. Defendant has had reason to know of its infringement of Plaintiff’s Patents as Plaintiff has

complied with the statutory requirement of giving notice to the public of Plaintiff’s Patents
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by affixing a label on the Patented Products, stating its turn radius technology is patented 

and/or patent pending, consistent with 35 U.S.C. § 287. 

38. Further, Defendant was given actual written notice of infringement of Plaintiff’s Patents 

by letter dated May 14, 2013. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s letter dated May 14, 

2013 is attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

39. Defendant has been and now is directly infringing, actively inducing third parties (namely, 

RV resellers and consumers of the accused products) to infringe and/or contributing to the 

infringement of Plaintiff’s Patents by those third parties, by making, using, selling, offering 

for sale and/or importing in the United States products, including at least Defendant’s Fifth 

Wheel Product Lines in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271. 

40. Defendant will continue to directly infringe, actively induce those third parties to infringe 

and/or contribute to the infringement of Plaintiff’s Patents unless and until Defendant is 

enjoined by this Court. 

41. On information and belief, Defendant has been and now is contributing to and inducing 

infringement of Plaintiff’s Patents by offering to sell and selling products intended to 

practice one or more claims in each of Plaintiff’s Patents, including but not limited to 

Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines.  

42. On information and belief, Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines are intended to be made 

or adapted for use in practicing one or more claims of each of Plaintiff’s Patents, and 

Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines are not staple articles or commodities of commerce 

suitable for substantial non-infringing use.  

43. On information and belief, Defendant is and has been aware, through actual knowledge or 

willful blindness, at least since written notice was given by Plaintiff to Defendant on May 
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14, 2013, that Defendant’s Fifth Wheel Product Lines would be used to practice one or 

more claims of each of Plaintiff’s Patents. 

44. Defendants have been aware, at least since receiving Plaintiff’s correspondence of Exhibit

8, that in order to avoid further liability to Plaintiff, it had the options of changing its

products to be non-infringing, by using other structures or by ceasing to use the turning

radius feature, or of obtaining a license under the specific royalty terms offered by Plaintiff.

Defendants did not select any of those options, and instead continued to make, use, and sell

the accused products and to falsely advertise itself as the source or origin of the innovative

designs it had copied from Plaintiff.

45. Defendant’s acts of infringement have caused and will continue to cause damage to

Plaintiffs.  But for Defendant’s acts of infringement, Plaintiff’s sales of the Patented

Products would have increased, and Plaintiff’s sales of collateral products which are

normally sold along with or incident to the Patented Products would have increased.  In

addition, if Defendant had not committed these acts of infringement, the sales of Patented

Products and such collateral products which did occur would have been less subject to price

erosion and/or marketing “spiffs” and would have required less marketing expense

associated therewith, resulting in greater profits to Plaintiff. Plaintiffs are entitled to

recover from Defendant all of the damages sustained by Plaintiff and any additional

remedy, in an amount to be determined at trial.

46. Defendant’s acts of infringement will continue to cause Plaintiff irreparable harm in the

future unless and until Defendant is enjoined from infringing Plaintiff’s Patents.

47. On information and belief, Defendant has and will continue to willfully infringe Plaintiff’s

Patents.
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the following relief: 

(A) a declaration that Defendant has infringed one or more claims of patents ‘650, ‘545, and 

‘352, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271; 

(B) equitable relief under 35 U.S.C § 283, including, but not limited to, permanently enjoining 

Defendant and its officers, agents, employees, assigns, representatives, privies, successors, 

and all those acting in concert or participating with Defendant from infringing, contributing 

to, and/or inducing infringement of patents ‘650, ‘545, and ‘352; 

(C) an award of damages adequate to compensate Plaintiff for Defendant’s infringement of 

patents ‘650, ‘545, and ‘352, together with prejudgment interest and post-judgment interest 

under 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

(D) a declaration or order finding that Defendant’s infringement is willful and/or an order 

increasing damages up to and including three times the amount found or assessed consistent 

with 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

(E) a declaration that this case is “exceptional” under 35 U.S.C. § 285 and awarding Plaintiff 

reasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses; and 

(F) such other relief deemed just and proper. 
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Dated: March 25, 2015 /s/Jeffery A. Johnson 
Jeffery A. Johnson (5009-71) 
Amanda M. Roberts (32129-71) 
May Oberfell Lorber 
4100 Edison Lakes Parkway 
Suite 100 
Mishawaka, Indiana 46545 
Telephone: (574) 243-4100 
Facsimile: (574) 232-9789 
Email: jjohnson@maylorber.com 

aroberts@maylorber.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Heartland 
Recreational Vehicles, LLC 
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THE PROBLEM:
Today’s short bed pick-up trucks with extended cab areas (also

referred to as crew cabs) are becoming more and more popular. A lot
of their popularity stems from the fact that standard bed pick-ups have
become so large, especially with extended cab areas, that they cannot
fit into most residential garages, or even into a standard parking space.
While the new short bed truck configurations with extended cabs offer increased seating capacity and comfort, they have
become problematic when being used as tow vehicles for 5th wheel trailers.  

The shorter truck beds have resulted in a decreased distance between the
cab of the truck and the front fiberglass cap of the 5th wheel they are towing.
This has significantly diminished the turning radius of the truck when the 5th
wheel is attached or being towed.
Because of this diminished turning radius, there have been a number of
incidents where 5th wheel owners who tow with short bed pick-up trucks have
turned or backed up too sharply, causing the
cab of their truck to hit the corner of their 5th
wheel in the fiberglass front cap area – resulting
in extensive damage to both the fiberglass cap
of the 5th wheel and the cab of the truck.
Warnings and informative articles regarding this

situation are now commonplace in industry
publications, Rving magazines, consumer web
sites and manufacturer’s materials.

THE SOLUTION:
Heartland Recreational Vehicles, LLC has engineered a unique new LANDMARK

5th wheel which dramatically improves the turning radius of today’s short bed pick-up trucks
with extended cabs when attached to a 5th wheel trailer. This revolutionary concept
involves both rethinking how the 5th wheel is designed from the ground up, as well as
how its fiberglass front cap design flows in relationship to the frame.  The result is a 30%
increased turning radius when attached to a short bed pick-up truck with an extended
cab, allowing LANDMARK owners the ability to confidently back into any tight

camping space, day or night.

A Publication of 

Heartland Recreational Vehicles, LLC

28868 Paul Dr.  

ELKHART, INDIANA 46514

L A N D M A R K ’ S  P A T E N T
P E N D I N G  D E S I G N

P R O V I D E S  3 0 %  M O R E
T U R N I N G  R A D I U S !

Competition’s
“Crunch Zone”

TURN WITH
CONFIDENCE!

NO! This truck is NOT jack
knifed...  It’s just
executing a nice, tight
turn while attached to the
revolutionary new
LANDMARK 5th wheel
featuring a Patent Pending
front end design!

You’ll NEVER see this tight of a turning
radius with an extended cab short bed

truck - unless it’s a LANDMARK!

Designed for today’s
extended cab, short
bed pick-up trucks!

JACK KNIFE?

Heartland Recreational Vehicles, LLC  •  28868 Paul Dr.  •  Elkhart, IN 46514  •  Ph. 574-262-5992  www.HEARTLANDRVS.com

THE NEXT GENERATION OF 5TH WHEELS

L A N D M A R K 

LANDMARK’s
“Crunch Zone”
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